RECEIVED

WISCONSIN COURT OF APPD5122-2014

District IV

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS
OF WISCONSIN

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent

v.

Appeal No. 2014AP000718 CR Circuit Court Case No. 2013CM000147

TRAVANTI J. SCHMIDT,

Defendant-Appellant.

On appeal from an Order Entered in the Circuit Court for Grant County, the Honorable Robert P. VanDeHey, Circuit Judge, presiding.

DEFENDANT-APPELLANT'S BRIEF and APPENDIX

ZICK&WEBER LAW OFFICES, LLP Vicki Zick State Bar No. 1033516 Attorneys for Defendant-Appellant

475 Hartwig Boulevard PO Box 325 Johnson Creek, WI 53038 920-699-9900

Issue Presented	
Statement on Oral Argument	
Staten	nent on Publication1
Staten	nent of the Case1
Standa	ard of Review3
Argun	nent
I.	THE TRIAL COURT ERRONEOUSLY EXERCISED ITS DISCRETION WHEN IT CONCLUDED SCHMIDT'S MOTION WAS INSUFFICIENT
Concl	usion13
Certification14	
Appendix	

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

WISCONSIN CASES

State v. Bentley, 201 Wis. 2d 303, 310-11, 548 N.W.2d 50 (1996)3
<i>State v. Domke,</i> 2011 WI 95, ¶45, 337 Wis. 2d 268, 805 N.W.2d 3646
State v. Johnson, 153 Wis. 2d 121, 127, 449 N.W.2d 845 (1990)4
State v. Sanchez, 201 Wis. 2d 219, 236, 548 N.W.2d 69 (1996)5
State v. Sullivan, 216 Wis. 2d 768, 780, 576 N.W.2d 30 (1998)4
Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984)4

ISSUE PRESENTED

Whether defendant's Motion for a New Trial on grounds of ineffective assistance of counsel was sufficient on its face to warrant defendant a *Machner* hearing?

Answered by the trial court: No.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT

Because the briefs should fully cover the issue in this case, oral argument is not recommended.

STATEMENT ON PUBLICATION

Because this case involves nothing more than the application of well-settled rules of law to a set of facts, publication is not recommended.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In April 2013, the state charged Travanti Schmidt with disorderly conduct in violation of § 947.01, Stats. (R1). According to the state, the basis for the charge was that on April 7, 2013, Schmidt, then an inmate at the Wisconsin Secure Program Facility in Boscobel, intentionally threw milk on Corrections Officer Travis Parr. (*Id.*). Schmidt pled not guilty to the charge, contending that the milk had spilled accidentally. (R22:12-13). Schmidt went to trial on September 27, 2013. (R26).

At trial Officer Parr testified that on the date in question he gave Schmidt a second carton of milk to replace one he had delivered previously. (*Id.* at 30). He did so at his sergeant's request after Schmidt complained the first carton was defective. (*Id.*). According to Parr, the moment he opened

Schmidt's trap door to send in the second carton, the milk from the first carton, still in Schmidt's possession, came flying out. (*Id.* at 31). It landed on Parr's shirt and pants. (*Id.*).

In addition to Parr's testimony, the state showed the jury a video presumptively recorded by the prison's surveillance camera system. (*Id.* at 33). This particular camera looks down at a long hallway with cell doors on each side. (R10:Ex. 4). It shows Officer Parr enter the hallway opposite the camera, take several steps toward the camera, and then turn sharply right and stop a few feet in front of a cell door. (*Id.*). Parr unlocks the trap door, sets the second milk carton down on the trap, and before closing the door an unknown substance comes flying out toward Parr. (*Id.*). The entire footage last a few seconds. (*Id.*).

The video gets introduced into evidence as follows: First, the prosecutor says to Parr *Maybe while they are getting that set up I can ask you a couple of other questions* and the prosecutor then asks some questions about the milk. (R26:32-33).

The prosecutor then says to Parr, with the video now running in the courtroom, Can you look up at the screen and tell us if you recognize what that might be? (Id. at 33). Parr says yeah, that's Range 1 up at prison. (Id.). The video continues to play with Parr saying only that it appears to depict him bringing the second carton of milk to Schmidt. (Id.). When it ends, the state shows it to the jury again, this time at half speed. (Id.). At the end of the second showing the state moves it into evidence, without objection. (Id. at 33-34).

During its deliberations the jury watched the video three additional times, twice at regular speed and once at half speed. (*Id.* at 72). Having seen the video a combined five

times it convicted Schmidt of disorderly conduct. (*Id.* at 73). The court sentenced Schmidt to one year of incarceration, to be served in prison, consecutive to the sentence he was presently serving. (R12).

Schmidt promptly filed a motion for a new trial on grounds that his trial counsel provided ineffective assistance. (R16). The basis of Schmidt's claim was that counsel had failed to object to the jury seeing the video before it was properly authenticated. (*Id.* at 3). Schmidt maintained that counsel's failure amounted to ineffective assistance that severely prejudiced him at trial. (*Id.*). Without the video, he argued, it was a he-said, she-said case, with Parr saying Schmidt intentionally threw the milk and Schmidt saying it accidentally spilled. (*Id.* at 7-8). Because there were no other witnesses to the incident, absent the video there was a reasonable probability the state would have failed to prove its case beyond a reasonable doubt. (*Id.*).

The trial court summarily denied Schmidt's motion without a hearing. (R17). It found the motion to contain only conclusory allegations that offered no basis for a *Machner* hearing. (*Id.* at 5, 4).

Believing his motion was sufficient on its face to warrant a hearing, Schmidt now brings this appeal from the order denying his motion.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

This Court reviews a postconviction request for a *Machner* hearing by applying a two-prong test. *See State v. Bentley*, 201 Wis. 2d 303, 310-11, 548 N.W.2d 50 (1996). First, it determines whether defendant's motion, on its face, alleges

facts which, if true, constitute deficient performance and prejudice entitling him to relief. *See Bentley*, 201 Wis. 2d at 310. If so, then the trial court has no discretion and defendant is entitled to be heard. *See id.* Whether a motion is sufficient is a question of law which this Court reviews de novo. *See id.*

If the motion is insufficient, the trial court may deny a hearing request based on any one of three factors: (1) the defendant fails to raise a question of fact; (2) he presents only conclusory allegations; or (3) the record demonstrates conclusively that defendant is not entitled to relief. *See id.* at 309-10. Whether the trial court properly exercised its discretion in denying the hearing of an insufficient motion is one this Court reviews under the erroneous exercise of discretion standard. *See id.* at 311. A trial court exercises appropriate discretion when it examines the relevant facts, applies a proper standard of law, uses a demonstrative rational process, and reaches a conclusion that a reasonable judge could reach. *See State v. Sullivan*, 216 Wis. 2d 768, 780, 576 N.W.2d 30 (1998).

Because a claim of ineffective assistance requires proof not only of deficient performance, but also prejudice, a defendant must make specific allegations to allow this Court to assess both prongs in a meaningful way. *See Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 687, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984). If not, he is not entitled to a hearing on his claim. *See Bentley*, 201 Wis. 2d at 315-17.

To show deficient performance defendant must demonstrate that his trial counsel made errors so serious that counsel was not functioning as counsel. *See State v. Johnson*, 153 Wis. 2d 121, 127, 449 N.W.2d 845 (1990). To show prejudice he must show a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's errors, the result of the proceeding would have been

different. See State v. Sanchez, 201 Wis. 2d 219, 236, 548 N.W.2d 69 (1996).

ARGUMENT

In this case the trial court found Schmidt's motion insufficient on its face, reasoning that it contained only conclusory allegations. (R17:1, 4-5). It denied the motion summarily finding no basis to order a *Machner* hearing on his claim. (*Id.* at 1, 4).

I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRONEOUSLY EXERCISED ITS DISCRETION WHEN IT CONCLUDED SCHMIDT'S MOTION WAS INSUFFICIENT

A trial court erroneously exercises its discretion when it fails to examine the relevant facts, fails to apply the proper standard of law, fails to use a rational process, and fails to reach a reasonable conclusion. *See State v. Sullivan*, 216 Wis. 2d 768, 780, 576 N.W.2d 30 (1998). Because the trial court failed to do all of these things, it improperly exercised its discretion in finding Schmidt's motion insufficient on its face.

A. Schmidt's Motion

In his motion, Schmidt alleged that trial counsel performed ineffectively by failing to object to the state showing the jury a surveillance video that had not been properly authenticated. (R16:3). He alleged the video acted as a silent witness. (*Id.* at 4-5). Because the state had offered it, not as illustrating evidence, but as substantive evidence of the events that transpired on April 7, 2013, it needed to be authenticated pursuant to Rule 909.015(9). (*Id.* at 4-5).

Rule 909.015(9), he said, requires the proponent to offer evidence describing the process or system used to produce the video and must show that the process or system produces an accurate result. (*Id.*). At trial, he said, none of this occurred. (*Id.* at 5). Instead, the video just magically appeared in the courtroom. (*Id.*). In fact, the record shows that the state began playing the video for the jury without even laying the slightest bit of foundation for it. (R26:33 (*Can you look up at the screen now and tell us if you recognize what that might be?*)). No one bothered to testify at all as to its accuracy or the reliability of the prison's surveillance system or to chain of custody or any of those things required by Rule 909.015(9). (R16:5-6).

Schmidt further alleged that counsel had opportunity to object to its showing on several occasions, including the moment the state began playing the video and also when the state offered it into evidence, but took advantage of neither. (*Id.* at 7). He reminded the trial court that failure to object can constitute deficient performance under some circumstances, referring the court to *State v. Domke*, 2011 WI 95, ¶45, 337 Wis. 2d 268, 805 N.W.2d 364, where the supreme court held that failure to object under the circumstances there constituted ineffective assistance. (*Id.* at 4).

Finally, as to prejudice, Schmidt argued that trial counsel's misstep severely prejudiced him in front of the jury because without the video his case was a he-said, she-said case. (*Id.* at 8). Other than the silent witness only he and Officer Parr had any personal knowledge of what had transpired on Range 1 on April 7th. (*Id.*). Had defense counsel kept the jury from seeing the video there was a reasonable probability that the state would have failed in its proof, as the inmate contended the milk spilled accidentally while the guard said Schmidt threw it intentionally. (*Id.*). That the jury asked to see the video three additional times

after seeing it twice during the trial only underscored its impact on the panel. (*Id.*).

Those were the facts and reasonable inferences Schmidt put into his motion. He told the trial court exactly why defense counsel erred and he linked the error securely to the prejudice he suffered, as the jury, after watching the video five times, found him guilty of disorderly conduct. Schmidt submits his motion, on its face, was sufficient.

B. <u>The Trial Court's Response</u>

The trial court found the motion facially insufficient, saying it offered only conclusory allegations. (R17:1, 4-5).

First off, the trial court found the motion flawed saying Schmidt erroneously assumed that had defense counsel objected, the state would have been unable to authenticate the video. (R17:3). The court said clearly this was not the case and cited to three parts of the trial transcript to show otherwise.

The first cite was to page 31, line 18. (*Id.*). But a careful check will show that on page 31 Officer Parr is authenticating two photos of himself burned to a digital disk. (R26:18). The disk is marked as trial Exhibit #1. (R10). This disk is not the disk which contained the video, as the video got entered into evidence as Exhibit #4 later in the trial. (R10; R26:34). Parr's authentication of pictures of himself is not at all relevant to the proper authentication of the video itself.

The second cite was to page 33, line 18. (R17:3). At this point the video is now playing in the courtroom and Officer Parr says:

A That's Range 1.

Q Up at prison?

A Yes.

That was it, the sum total of his testimony on Transcript page 33 about the surveillance video. Schmidt submits that Parr's four words hardly authenticated the video in the manner contemplated by Rule 909.015(9).

The third cite was to page 43, line 20. (R17:3). This cite is to Detective Place's testimony that he obtained the video from the prison. (R26:43). But one can hardly construe it as testimony laying an evidentiary foundation for the video. As page 34 of the transcript shows, the jury already had seen the video and the court already had admitted it into evidence long before Detective Place even testified. (R26:34). So like the court's first cite, its third was not relevant either.

Insofar as the court believed the state did lay a sufficient foundation for the surveillance tape (R17:5), the evidence it points to hardly supports this conclusion.

Second, the court countered that Schmidt testified and he never alleged the video was inaccurate. (R17:3). Insofar as this may be true, this fact has nothing to do with Schmidt's complaint about defense counsel's performance. Not that Schmidt even would know whether the video was accurate, as he was locked in his cell, unable to see what the camera saw out in the hallway.

But the point is neither here nor there. Perhaps the video was spot-on, but this does not change the fact that the onus was on the state to put up a witness, with knowledge, to say the video was accurate. When the state failed to lay the

proper foundation for the exhibit defense counsel should have lodged an objection.

So the trial court's focus on this fact again is not relevant. While it may be true, it does not speak to counsel's performance in any way.

Third, the trial court pointed to the fact that defense counsel actually used the video to support her case. (R17:5). And this fact is true as the record shows counsel, in her closing argument, saying to the jury: *you have seen the video*. (R26:56). At Transcript page 56 she argues that the video shows the milk carton falling to the floor beneath the trap and not flying across the hall, suggesting that her client never threw it as Officer Parr alleged. (*Id.*).

Now whether defense counsel made a strategic decision to let the jury see the video because it bolstered her defense on this point, or whether she was simply doing damage control, we will never know, because the trial court denied Schmidt a *Machner* hearing. Had Schmidt been given the opportunity to ask this important question then we would know for sure. But under the circumstances all we have to go on is the trial court's *ipsa dixit* that counsel strategically used the video to muster a defense.

Fourth, and similar to its third reason, the trial court summarily contends that defense counsel lacked a good faith belief that the video was not an accurate depiction of the incident, and for this reason she had no grounds to object to its admission. (R17:5). But like its third argument, we must take the trial court's word for this. It points to nothing in the record that supports this contention. Truth be known, this Court has no idea what defense counsel believed about the

accuracy of the video, because she was denied the opportunity to say.

But even if she did believe it was unassailable, her belief on this point has nothing to do with requiring the state to lay a proper foundation for its admission. Assuming *arguendo* that the video did accurately record the events on Range 1 on April 7, 2013, that presumption does not change the fact that no sponsoring witness ever told the jury it was an accurate depiction as Rule 909.015(9) requires.

Finally, as to the prejudice prong, the trial court reasoned that even if counsel had erred, her error could not have hurt Schmidt because, had she objected, the state simply would have asked a few more questions. (R17:5).

Well the obvious flaw in this argument is that the state never did ask a few more questions. It asked no foundational questions at all, which is what Schmidt is complaining about.

But more importantly, the trial court's argument is misplaced. The state had no other witnesses available to authenticate the video in the manner required by Rule 909.015(9). That is, the proper witness needed to describe the process or system used to produce the video and needed to show that the process or system always produces an accurate result. *See* Wis. Stats. § 909.015(9). Surely Detective Place from the Grant County Sheriff's Department would not be this witness. (R26:42). Although it might be possible that Corrections Officer Parr, who was employed by the prison, might have this knowledge, this too is doubtful. (R26:28). But these were the only witnesses the state called at trial.

If either had the knowledge to properly authenticate the video, then defense counsel's objection would have served an

important purpose. The sponsoring witness could have shared with the jury how he knew the video was accurate, the number of times he had tested the system, the process he used to get the video into the court room, and so forth. Important stuff!

Likewise, had neither Parr nor Place had this knowledge, then her objection would have served another very important purpose, at least for Schmidt. It would have kept the jury from hearing from the silent witness.

In summary, the trial court's contention that the state could have properly authenticated the video in the wake of an objection, is based not only on conjecture, but inaccurate facts. Whether Parr could have properly authenticated the video in the manner contemplated by Rule 909.109(9) is wholly unknown. And, any questions put to Detective Place would have been too late, because by the time Place took the stand the video was already in evidence. The trial court is only guessing that the state could have authenticated the video by asking these witnesses a few more questions.

Likewise, the citations the court gave do not support its conclusion that the witnesses did, or could have, laid a sufficient foundation. The testimony found at the first and the third cites are not even relevant. The second one, while relevant, consists of four words about what Officer Parr sees on the screen. It hardly lays a proper foundation for silent witness testimony.

As to its second and fourth reasons (Schmidt failed to complain the video was inaccurate; counsel lacked a good faith belief it was inaccurate), neither of these reasons bear any rational relationship to Schmidt's complaint. Schmidt is complaining the state failed to lay a proper evidentiary

foundation for the video and that his trial counsel stood idly by and did nothing about it. Whether he believed or she believed the video was accurate is immaterial. Presumptively it was. But this was the problem – neither they nor anyone else presented any evidence at trial that it was an accurate depiction of the events that gave rise to the charges against Schmidt.

As to its third reason – that defense counsel, as a matter of strategy, used the video to bolster her defense – while plausible, is also pure conjecture by the trial court. Perhaps this is the reason counsel lodged no objection to it. But this is only a guess. It is equally plausible that counsel missed a beat and forgot about Rule 909.109(9). Either way a hearing would ferret this out. It hardly seems reasonable to deny a hearing and make Schmidt take the trial court's word for it.

As to its fifth reason, this too is pure speculation. To say that Schmidt would have suffered no prejudice, because had counsel objected, the state just would have asked a few more questions, is to beg the question. The fact is, counsel did not object, the state did not ask a few more questions, and that is why Schmidt is complaining.

Maybe the trial court is guessing correctly. Following counsel's objection Officer Parr may have said all the right things, e.g., I have tested the surveillance system many times, I have always found it to accurately record activities on Range 1, I myself copied the video from the camera system to this DVD I have in my hand, I have not altered it in any way, and so on and so on.

Alternately, maybe the trial court is guessing wrong and following an objection Parr might have said "I have no idea how the prison's surveillance system works, I have never watched this video before, and I did not even know there was a surveillance camera in that hallway."

The point being, it is equally plausible that an objection could have kept the jury from seeing the video, giving rise to a reasonable probability that the jury may have remained unconvinced of Schmidt's guilt.

A conclusory allegation is "my trial counsel was ineffective" with nothing more added. But Schmidt's motion goes way beyond conclusory. It tells the trial court exactly why defense counsel erred and he properly linked the error to the prejudice he suffered. On its face it was sufficient and the trial court had no discretion to deny Schmidt a hearing.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated, Schmidt respectfully asks this court to reverse the trial court and remand his case for a *Machner* hearing.