**RECEIVED**

**06-04-2014**

STATE OF WISCONSIN  
COURT OF APPEALS  
DISTRICT 4

**CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS  
OF WISCONSIN**

---

Appeal No. 2014AP000718 CR  
Circuit Court Case No. 2013CM000147

---

STATE OF WISCONSIN,  
Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

TRAVANTI D. SCHMIDT,  
Defendant-Appellant.

---

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR GRANT COUNTY,  
THE HONORABLE ROBERT P. VANDEHEY, PRESIDING

---

BRIEF OF THE PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

---

Anthony J. Pozorski, Sr.  
Assistant District Attorney  
State Bar No. 1014070  
Grant County District Attorney's Office  
130 West Maple Street  
Lancaster, Wisconsin 53813  
(608) 723-4237

##

### **STATEMENT OF ISSUE**

Whether the defendant's Motion for a New Trial on grounds of ineffective assistance of counsel was sufficient on its face to entitle the defendant to a *Machner* hearing?

Trial Court's answer: No

### **STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT**

Because the parties can adequately address their positions in the briefs, oral argument is not requested.

### **STATEMENT ON PUBLICATION**

Publication would not be appropriate since the issue in this case involves no more than the application of well-settled rules of law to a recurring fact situation.

### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

This is a criminal case. The defendant was charged with disorderly conduct in violation of sec. 947.01(1)Wis. Stats. as a repeater pursuant to sec. 939.62(1)(a)Wis. Stats. (R.1). On September 27, 2013, the Trial Court conducted a jury trial on that charge. The jury returned a verdict of guilty and the Court entered a judgment of guilty. (R.11,12). The defendant was sentenced to one year in jail consecutive to any previously imposed sentence. (R.12). The defendant filed a Motion for a New Trial

alleging ineffective assistance of counsel. (R.16; App.1-9). The Trial Court denied the motion without a court hearing. (R.17; App.11-15). The defendant appeals.

#### **STATEMENT OF THE FACTS**

On April 7, 2013, Travis Parr was working as a Correctional Officer at the Wisconsin Secure Program Facility. (R.26, pp.28-29; App.44-45). Travanti Schmidt was an inmate at that prison. (R.26, p.28; App.44). Travis Parr provided Travanti Schmidt a meal. (R.26, p.29; App.45). Mr. Schmidt later informed Officer Parr that he was having some issues with his milk carton. (R.26, p.30; App.46). Mr. Schmidt showed Officer Parr that the milk carton was open. (R.26, p.31; App.47). Officer Parr's sergeant told Officer Parr to replace the milk carton with a new one. (R.26, pp.30-31; App.46-47). Officer Parr obtained a new carton of milk, opened the trap door, set the new milk on the trap, and then milk came flying out and hit Officer Parr in the stomach and legs. (R.26, p.31; App.47).

At this point in the testimony, the State asked the court to turn on the video. (R.26, p.31; App.47). Officer Parr then identified two photos. (R.26, pp.31-32; App.47-48). The State then offered the two photos and a video

into evidence. (R.26, p.32; App.48). The defense attorney did not object, and the exhibits were received. (R.26, p.32; App.48).

Officer Parr then testified that there are cameras at the prison. (R.26, p.32; App.48). Officer Parr looked up at the screen and indicated that he recognized what was being displayed. (R.26, p.33; App.49). Officer Parr then identified it as Range 1 at the prison. (R.26, p.33; App.49).

The State requested that the video be played and it was played at that time. (R.26, pp.33-34; App.49-50). The State suggested that a little narration wouldn't hurt. (R.26, p.34; App.50). Officer Parr stated that it appeared to be him. (R.26, p.34; App.50). Officer Parr went on to indicate that that would have been him the last time when he brought the new milk back and when he got splashed by the milk. (R.26, p.34; App.50). Officer Parr further identified himself as picking up the milk carton. (R.26, p.34; App.50).

Prior to the commencement of the evidence, the State made an opening statement to the jury. (R.26, pp.21-25; App.37-41). The State did not mention the video during the opening statement. Defense counsel also made an opening statement to the jury prior to the commencement of the

evidence. (R.26, pp.25-27; App.41-43). During the course of her opening statement, defense counsel informed the jury that the jurors would see a video less than a minute long that would show this entire exchange. (R.26, p.26; App.42).

### **ARGUMENT**

**Because the defendant did not present sufficient facts in his motion to entitle him to a new trial, the Trial Court properly exercised its discretion and denied the Motion without an evidentiary hearing.**

#### **Standard of Review**

In *State v. Bentley*, 201 Wis. 2d 303, 310-311, 548 N.W.2d 50 (1996), the Supreme Court stated:

While we agree with the State that *Nelson* controls, we disagree with the State's interpretation of *Nelson* that our review is limited to the erroneous exercise of discretion standard. Rather, we conclude that *Nelson* sets forth a two-part test which necessitates a mixed standard of appellate review. If the motion on its face alleges facts which would entitle the defendant to relief, the circuit court has no discretion and must hold an evidentiary hearing. *Nelson*, 54 Wis. 2d at 497. Whether a motion alleges facts which, if true, would entitle a defendant to relief is a question of law that we review de novo. See *Nottelson v. DILHR*, 94 Wis. 2d 106, 116, 287 N.W.2d 763 (1980) (whether facts fulfill a particular legal standard is a question of law).

However, if the motion fails to allege sufficient facts, the circuit court has the discretion to deny a post-conviction motion without a hearing based on any one of the three factors enumerated in *Nelson*. When reviewing a circuit court's discretionary act, this court



uses the deferential erroneous exercise of discretion standard. *Brookfield v. Milwaukee Metropolitan Sewerage Dist.*, 171 Wis. 2d 400, 423, 491 N.W.2d 484 (1992).

### **Motion Alleges Insufficient Facts**

The defendant's motion does not allege sufficient facts to entitle the defendant to a new trial.

First off, it is clear that the defense wanted the jury to see the video. Both the prosecutor and the defense attorney gave opening statements prior to any evidence being introduced. The prosecutor never mentioned the video during the opening statement. The defendant's attorney, however, brought up the video during her opening statement and told the jury,

You will see a video less than a minute long that shows this entire exchange. You will see that they never come in direct physical contact. You will see that Travanti never reached for Travis Parr. That there isn't milk being sprayed everywhere flying up in the air. It's the classic accident of spilled milk, and you will see it pour down. (R.26, p.26; App.42)

The defense wanted the jury to see the video and planned on the jury seeing the video. It is unreasonable for the defendant to want the jury to see some evidence and then complain because the jury saw it.

Second, the defendant focuses much of his argument on the application of sec. 909.015(9). The defense argues

that for the video to be authenticated, the State needed someone from the prison who was familiar with the surveillance system testify. Another way to authenticate a video is through the testimony of a witness with knowledge that the matter is what it is claimed to be pursuant to sec. 909.015(1) Wis. Stats. The witness who testified about the video was Travis Parr, the correctional officer or prison guard who was depicted in the video. A witness should be able to testify about a video if he is the person being depicted in that video. Victims routinely testify about photographs of their injuries even though they are not looking at the injury through the camera lens when the photo is being taken. It is clear from the record that Travis Parr, the correctional officer or prison guard, identified the video. Officer Parr testified that the video depicted him the last time when he brought the new milk and when he got splashed by the milk. (R.26, p.34; App.50)

Third, the defense argues that the video was not sufficiently authenticated under sec. 909.015(1) Wis. Stats. because Officer Parr never testified that the video depicted a fair and accurate representation of what he had witnessed on April 7. In *State v. Peterson*, 222 Wis. 2d

449, 455-456, 588 N.W.2d 84 (Ct. App. 1998), the court stated,

In *State v. Sarinske*, 91 Wis. 2d 14, 44, 280 N.W.2d 725, 739 (1979), the court held that for still photographs, the photographer's testimony that the pictures accurately portray what they purport to portray is a sufficient foundation under secs. 909.01 and 909.015(1), Stats. Other jurisdictions have routinely held motions pictures admissible with the same foundation as that held adequate for still photographs in *Sarinske*.

It is clear that Officer Parr did not use the magic words that the video depicted a fair and accurate representation of what he had witnessed. But it is also clear that he believed it to be a fair and accurate representation of what he had witnessed. He testified about what had happened without the video, he identified the video, and then pointed out what was going on in the video between the defendant and himself during the course of the incident which was the subject matter at trial in this case. The State concedes that the prosecutor could have and should have asked Officer Parr if the video was a fair and accurate representation of the incident. If the prosecutor had asked that question, we would not be writing this brief for the Court of Appeals today. But it is also clear from Officer Parr's testimony, that the video was a video recording of the incident for which the defendant was

on trial. Wisconsin courts have long made it clear that magic words are not necessary and that substance is more important than form. See *Pucci v. Rausch*, 51 Wis. 2d 513, 519-520, 187 N.W.2d 138 (1971) (relating to expert witness), See *State v. Echols*, 175 Wis. 2d 653, 672, 499 N.W.2d 631 (1993) (related to Trial Court's findings).

### **Insufficient Facts Means Deferential Standard**

For these three reasons, the defendant has not alleged sufficient facts which would entitle the defendant to a new trial. Because the defendant failed to allege sufficient facts which would entitle him to a new trial, the circuit court was entitled to exercise discretion in denying the post-conviction motion without a hearing. Therefore, the standard of review for the Appellate Court is for the Appellate Court to utilize the deferential erroneous exercise of discretion standard.

The Trial Court denied an evidentiary hearing. (R.17; App.11-15). The Trial Court considered the relevant facts. The Trial Court applied the correct standard of law. The Trial Court considered the arguments of defense and exercised its discretion to deny an evidentiary hearing.

In *State v. Bentley*, 201 Wis. 2d at 318, the court stated, "A circuit court properly exercises its discretion

when it has examined the relevant facts, applied the proper legal standards, and engaged in a rational decision-making process." The Trial Court in this case did all of those. For those reasons too, the State respectfully requests the court to affirm the Trial Court's decision to deny an evidentiary hearing on the defendant's motion for a new trial.

### **Conclusion**

The defense planned on having the jury see the video. Officer Parr sufficiently authenticated the video. Therefore, the defendant has not alleged sufficient facts to entitle the defendant to a new trial. The Trial Court considered the facts, the relevant law, and rationally decided to deny the Motion for a New Trial without an evidentiary hearing. The State respectfully requests the court to affirm the Trial Court's order.